FILED
Feb 18, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 73929-8

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF KENT,

Respondent/Plaintiff

v.

COREY COBB,

Petitioner/Defendant.

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

David Iannotti
WSBA #37542
Attorney for Corey Cobb
Stewart MacNichols Harmell, Inc., P.S.
655 West Smith Street, Suite 210
Kent, WA 98032
Telephone: 253-859-8840
Fax: 253-859-2213

I. INTRODUCTION

On November 4, 2013, Cobb was arrested for driving while license suspended in the third degree. Cobb voluntarily agreed to give a blood sample, and it returned with a result of 5.9 ng/ml of THC. Cobb was charged with Driving while Under the Influence of Marijuana and Driving while License Suspended in the Third Degree in the Kent Municipal Court.

Cobb contested the constitutionality of the statute arguing that a person of common intelligence has no ability to know whether they are at or above the 5.0 ng/ml THC per se limit to act in conformity with the law. Cobb also argued that the law was a violation of police powers. The Kent Municipal Court ruled that: “The statute clearly informs the public of the proscribed conduct – i.e. that one cannot operate a motor vehicle in the State of Washington when he/she has a THC reading of 5.0 ng/mL or higher within two hours of driving. The statute is not vague merely because a driver may not be able to predict with complete certainty the point at which his/her consumption of THC would meet or exceed the proscribed limits.”

Cobb went to trial on March 10, 11 and 12, 2015. The City of Kent only proceeded on the THC per se prong of Driving Under the Influence, RCW 46.61.502(1)(b), and Driving while License Suspended in the Third

Degree. The jury found Cobb Guilty of both charges. This appeal was timely filed.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 46.61.502(1)(b) and the accompanying statutes, as adopted pursuant to Initiative Measure No. 502, are a violation of Cobb's 14th Amendment Right to due process?

A. To what extent does due process require a person of common intelligence to "estimate rightly"?

B. Whether the science behind I-502 supports a per se level for THC DUIs, as compared to the standard that was set for Alcohol DUIs?

C. Whether a person of common intelligence can determine their THC concentration based on the Pharmacokinetics of marijuana?

D. Whether there is a correlation between THC concentration and impairment that would allow a person of common intelligence to act in conformity with the law?

2. Whether RCW 46.61.502(1)(b) and the accompanying statutes are a valid exercise of the states police powers?

3. Whether Initiative I-502 was in violation of Washington Constitution, Article II, Section 19, the single-subject rule for ballot measures?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

On November 4, 2013 at 1:04 p.m., Officer Dexheimer witnessed Cobb turn right from Fourth Avenue to Smith Street in Kent, Washington. Report of Proceedings Volume I (hereinafter "RPI") at 107, 124. Smith

Street is a four lane road with two lanes going in the westbound direction. Cobb turned directly into the left westbound lane and passed a slower moving vehicle. RPI 108. Officer Dexheimer used a laser speed measuring device and determined that Cobb was traveling at 40 mph on a street with a 30 mph limit. Cobb then changed lanes without signaling. Officer Dexheimer conducted a traffic stop on Cobb. RPI 110.

Officer Dexheimer arrested Cobb because his privilege to drive was suspended in the third degree. RPI 114, *see also* Report of Proceedings Volume II (hereinafter “RPII”) 174, (Department of Licensing Records Custodian Testimony) 195 (Testimony of Cobb). When Officer Dexheimer handcuffed Cobb, he smelled the odor of burnt marijuana on his clothing and saw that the conjunctiva of his eyes was red. RPI 115. Cobb was informed of his *Miranda* rights and subsequently stated that he had smoked a bowl of marijuana about five or six hours earlier. RPI 116, RPII 186. Cobb estimated that he smoked about half of a gram of marijuana. *Id.*

Officer Dexheimer found three small bottles with marijuana in them, a lighter, a marijuana grinder, a swisher sweat cigar and a bottle of Visine in a backpack that was in Cobb’s car. *Id.* Cobb also had a medical marijuana authorization card. RPI 117, 120, 121. When asked if Cobb would do Field Sobriety Tests, Cobb stated that the card said, “He should only do

the tests at the station.” RPI 121. The only information on the bottles of marijuana was the name of the marijuana and information about the clinic where the marijuana was purchased. RPII 16. There were no instructions, THC concentrations or dosing information. *Id.*

Officer Dexheimer is a trained Drug Recognition Expert (hereinafter “DRE”). RPI 100. Cobb agreed to participate in the 12 step DRE exam. RPI 121. Cobb was asked if he had any physical problems that would prevent him from performing the exam, and he indicated that he had allergies and his eyes itched, but it would not stop him from doing the exam. RPII 19. Cobb also indicated that he recently had his wisdom teeth extracted. RPII 20, 186. Cobb had obtained the marijuana from a clinic for pain management. RPII 186, 192. Cobb had smoking marijuana, edibles and a THC balm. RPII 193.

During the exam, Cobb was asked three separate times when he last smoked marijuana. Cobb indicated that he had smoked marijuana five to six hours earlier; a couple of hours earlier; and that he smoked at 8:30 a.m. RPII 39-40, 75-76, 188, 189, 200, 201. Cobb also indicated that he applied the THC balm at 8:30 a.m.. RPII 193-194. Cobb had been using the THC products for the past week. RPII 196.

After performing the DRE Exam, Cobb voluntarily agreed to give a blood sample. RPII 59. Cobb’s blood was collected by the nurse at the

Kent Jail at 2:24 p.m.. RPII 61. Cobb's blood was examined by Christie Mitchell-Mata, a forensic scientist from the Washington State Patrol Toxicologist Lab. RPII 111. The Washington State Patrol Toxicology Lab Report dated December 20, 2013 sets forth the drug analysis results: THC of 5.9 ng/ml and Carboxy-THC¹ of 110 ng/ml. *Id.*; *see also* Appendix 1, Police Report #13-14496, Citation # k100276, dated 11/4/2013.

Procedural History

Cobb was charged with Driving while Under the Influence of Marijuana and Driving while License Suspended in the Third Degree in the Kent Municipal Court, filed under cause number K100276. *See* Clerk's Papers (hereinafter "CP") 1-2. Cobb filed his Motion and Supporting Memoranda on March 26, 2014. CP 17-393. On April 22, 2014 the parties and the Court agreed that the motion should proceed *en banc*. CP 3-13. The City filed its response on June 9, 2014. CP 394-444.

The Kent Municipal Court denied Cobb's motion. CP 445-466. Kent Municipal Court ruled that RCW 46.61.502 "clearly informs the public of the proscribed conduct" and was "not vague merely because a driver may not be able to predict with complete certainty the point at which his/her consumption of THC would meet or exceed the proscribed limits." Kent

¹ Carboxy THC is the metabolite of THC and has no impairing affects. THC is primarily metabolized to 11-hydroxy-THC which has equipotent psychoactivity. The 11-hydroxy-THC is then rapidly metabolized to the 11-nor-9-carboxy-THC (THC-COOH) which is not psychoactive.

Ruling at 4. The Court incorrectly stated that Cobb struck the police powers argument. *Id.* at 1, *see also* Transcript of Proceedings from the Motion Hearing on June 18, 2014 at 4, 5, 6, 26.

Cobb filed a Writ of Certiorari on August 15, 2014 in King County Superior Court. The Superior Court denied Cobb's motion upholding Kent's ruling. *See* Appendix 2, Superior Court Order in re: Petitioner's Application for Writ of Certiorari, dated and filed November 18, 2014.

Cobb filed a Motion for Discretionary Review of the Kent and Superior Court ruling with the Division One Court of Appeals that was also denied, but for different reasons. The Court of Appeals stated in its denial: "The City agrees that Cobb's vagueness challenge raises an issue of public interest that will warrant an appellate decision, but the City argues that it will be more appropriate for review to occur after a trial based on the record developed." *See* Appendix 3, January 22, 2015, Court of Appeals, Division 1, Decision Denying Review, No. 72795-8-I.

Cobb went to trial on March 10, 11, and 12, 2015. The City of Kent only proceeded on the THC per se prong of Driving Under the Influence, RCW 46.61.502(1)(b), and Driving while License Suspended in the Third Degree. RPI 18. The jury found Cobb Guilty of both charges. RPIII 5. Cobb timely filed this appeal and request for the Supreme Court to accept direct review. The Supreme Court assigned the case to the Court of

Appeals, Division 1. *See* Appendix 4, Supreme Court Ruling to Transfer Review to Court of Appeals, dated July 23, 2015, No. 91589-0.

IV. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. RCW 46.61.502 and the accompanying statutes are a violation of Cobb's 14th Amendment right to due process.

No one may be required at peril of life, liberty or property to speculate as to the meaning of penal statutes. All are entitled to be informed as to what the State commands or forbids. The applicable rule is stated in *Connally v. General Const. Co.*, 269 U.S. 385, 391, 46 S.Ct. 126, 127, 70 L.Ed. 322 (1926): "That the terms of a penal statute creating a new offense must be sufficiently explicit to inform those who are subject to it what conduct on their part will render them liable to its penalties is a well-recognized requirement, consonant alike with ordinary notions of fair play and the settled rules of law; and a statute which either forbids or requires the doing of an act in terms so vague that men of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application violates the first essential of due process of law... The crime, and the elements constituting it, must be so clearly expressed that the ordinary person can intelligently choose, in advance, what course it is lawful for him to pursue." This is reiterated in *United States v. Harriss* that states "[t]he underlying principle is that no man shall be held criminally

responsible for conduct which he could not reasonably understand to be proscribed.” *United States v. Harriss*, 347 U.S. 612, 617-18, 74 S. Ct. 808, 812, 98 L. Ed. 989 (1954); *see also State v. Bauer*, 174 Wash. App. 59, 78-79, 295 P.3d 1227, 1237 *review granted*, 177 Wash. 2d 1019, 304 P.3d 115 (2013) *and rev'd*, 180 Wash. 2d 929, 329 P.3d 67 (2014).

In order to satisfy the Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article 1, Section 3 of the Washington State Constitution² guarantee of procedural due process, a statute must set forth clear legal standards so that citizens may know how to conduct themselves in conformity with the law and law enforcement personnel may avoid enforcing the law in an arbitrary and discriminatory manner. *Kolender v. Lawson*, 461 U.S. 352, 357–58, 103 S.Ct. 1855, 1858, 75 L.Ed.2d 903 (1983). When a challenged statute does not involve First Amendment rights, the statute is not evaluated for facial vagueness, but must be evaluated in light of the particular facts of each case. *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 117, 857 P.2d 270, 275 (1993). A statute is presumed to be unconstitutional when it appears unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt. *Haley v. Medical*

² Based on the *Gunwall* criteria, it does not appear that the due process clause in the Washington Constitution art. 1, § 3 should be construed any differently than the U.S. Constitution amend. 14, § 1. There is no greater protection under the State Constitution in terms of determining whether a statute is void for vagueness. *State v. Gunwall*, 106 Wash. 2d 54, 58, 720 P.2d 808, 811 (1986). As such, the analysis is based only upon federal due process principles set forth by the United States Supreme Court and the Washington Supreme Court. *See, e.g., World Wide Video, Inc. v. Tukwila*, 117 Wash.2d 382, 390, 816 P.2d 18 (1991), cert. denied, 503 U.S. 986, 112 S.Ct. 1672, 118 L.Ed.2d 391 (1992).

Disciplinary Bd., 117 Wash.2d 720, 739, 818 P.2d 1062 (1991); *City of Seattle v. Eze*, 111 Wash.2d 22, 26 759 P.2 366 (1988); *State v. Aver*, 109 Wash.2d 303, 306–07, 745 P.2d 479 (1987). The party challenging a statute carries the burden of proving its unconstitutionality. *Haley*, 117 Wash.2d at 739, 818 P.2d 1062; *Eze*, 111 Wash.2d at 26, 759 P.2d 366; *Aver*, 109 Wash.2d at 307, 745 P.2d 479; *Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 118, 857 P.2d 270, 276 (1993).

A statute violates due process principles if: (1) it “does not define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is proscribed,” or (2) it “does not provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement.” *State v. Williams*, 144 Wash.2d 197, 203, 26 P.3d 890 (2001) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *City of Bellevue v. Lorang*, 140 Wash.2d 19, 30, 992 P.2d 496 (2000)). A statute is unconstitutionally vague if either requirement is not satisfied. *Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 117–18, 857 P.2d 270, 276 (1993); *State v. Lee*, 135 Wash.2d 369, 393, 957 P.2d 741 (1998).

RCW 46.61.502(1)(b) does not provide adequate notice to citizens because it does not define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that people of ordinary intelligence can understand what conduct is proscribed. In the present case, Cobb was charged with violating RCW

46.61.502(1)(b), driving under the influence while having a Tetrahydrocannabinol (THC) concentration of 5.0 ng/ml or higher within two hours of driving. RCW 46.61.502(1)(b) states that “(1) A person is guilty of driving while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, marijuana, or any drug if the person drives a vehicle within this state: ... (b) The person has, within two hours after driving, a THC concentration of 5.00 or higher as shown by analysis of the person's blood made under RCW 46.61.506”. It is not disputed that RCW 46.61.502(1)(b) satisfies prong two of procedural due process by providing an ascertainable standard of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement. All people that drive with THC concentrations of 5.0 ng/ml or higher within two hours of driving are considered in violation of this statute.

A person of common intelligence must be able to determine if they are in violation of the statute. In *State v. Franco*, the Washington Supreme Court held that the former per se level of 0.10 percent blood alcohol standard, was not unconstitutionally vague. *State v. Franco*, 96 Wash.2d 816, 824-25, 639 P.2d 1320(1982). The Court found the standard gave a fair warning to a defendant because it made them aware they were not to drive a vehicle after drinking in excess and charts were available showing the number of drinks necessary to produce the prohibited level, and it was reasonable to assume that a driver was impaired at that level of blood

alcohol. *Franco*, at 825, 639 P.2d 1320. The *Franco* decision was affirmed in *Brayman*, finding that “the standard gave fair warning in that it was reasonable to assume that a driver was impaired at that level of blood alcohol and that charts were available showing the number of drinks necessary to produce the prohibited level.” A per se level for alcohol was not a violation of procedural due process because a person can determine whether they are in violation of the statute based on excessive consumption and/or alcohol calculations. *State v. Brayman*, 110 Wn.2d 183, 196, 751 P.2d 294, 301 (1988).

The first issue is whether the language of RCW 46.61.502(1)(b) gives sufficient notice to a person to understand how to act in conformity with the law. For the most part, every American law is written in plain English. Due process does not rest on whether a person can read the law and understand what it says; it requires a reasonable person to understand how to act in conformity with the law. While the Supreme Court Commissioner noted in the Ruling Transferring Review to Court of Appeals that “[a]t first blush, the law here provides clear notice: it is unlawful to drive a vehicle in Washington with a blood THC content of 5.0 ng/ml or higher”, due process requires more than just being able to read the law. Supreme Court Ruling at p 3.

The U.S. Supreme Court has long recognized that “the decisions of the court, upholding statutes as sufficiently certain, rested upon the conclusion that they employed words or phrases having a technical or other special meaning, well enough known to enable those within their reach to correctly apply them.” *Connally*, 269 U.S. at 393. A person of reasonable intelligence should not have to consult experts in order to know how to act in conformity with the law. *State v. Dougall*, 89 Wash. 2d 118, 122, 570 P.2d 135, 137 (1977) citing *Powers v. Owen*, 1966 OK CR 141, 419 P.2d 277, 279 (Okl.Cr.1966).

There are many examples in Washington case law where the language is clear, but a person does not have the ability to know how to act in conformity with the law. In its opinion, the *Franco* Court cites *Matter of Powell*, 92 Wash. 2d 882, 888-89, 602 P.2d 711, 714 (1979). The Court in *Powell* overturned a conviction for a controlled substance violation, finding that “it is even more unreasonable to expect an average person in this state to maintain continuous contact with the office of the Code Reviser in Olympia in order to determine which substances have been designated as controlled.” *Powell*, 92 Wash. 2d at 889.

The question isn't whether the language is understandable; due process requires that a reasonable person be able to understand how to act in conformity with the law based on “common understanding and practice.”

Id. The *Powell* Court cited a number of cases with similar findings that establish “the rule that ‘(s)tatutory language must convey a sufficiently definite warning of proscribed conduct when measured by common understanding and practice.’” *Id.* quoting *State v. Jordan*, 91 Wash.2d 386, 588 P.2d 1155 (1979) (holding that it was unreasonable to expect an average citizen to search the Federal Register continually to determine which substances had been classified as controlled); *State v. Dougall*, 89 Wash.2d 118, 570 P.2d 135 (1977) (holding that it is unreasonable to expect an average person to continually research the Federal Register to determine what drugs are controlled substances under RCW 69.50); *State v. Martinez*, 85 Wash.2d 671, 538 P.2d 521 (1975) *overturned* on other grounds (holding RCW 9.87.010(13) failed to apprise an individual of the circumstances under which ‘willful loitering’ on school premises or on the public premises adjacent thereto is subject to punishment); *Seattle v. Pullman*, 82 Wash.2d 794, 514 P.2d 1059 (1973) (holding a statute that simply proscribes ‘loitering’ is impermissibly vague because the word loiter standing alone does not necessarily connote sinister or illegal activity and, thus, the ordinary citizen will be uninformed as to what types of behavior will and will not be subject to criminal prosecution).

A person of common intelligence can roughly estimate their blood or breath alcohol content (BAC) based on an individual’s body weight,

gender, the amount of alcohol one has consumed, and the time frame the alcohol was consumed. *Widmarks* formula and other basic guides, including apps for phones and websites, help a person determine their BAC.³ A person can also determine how long they would need to wait after drinking in excess, in order for their BAC to drop below 0.08%.⁴

The legislative intent behind establishing per se levels for alcohol was to prevent people from drinking in excess and then operating a motor vehicle regardless of whether their ability to drive is impaired. *State v. Crediford*, 130 Wn.2d 747, 754-55, 927 P.2d 1129, 1132-33 (1996). The legislation and courts recognize that it is not illegal to drink alcohol and then drive a motor vehicle. *Id.*; see also *State v. Hansen*, 15 Wash. App. 95, 546 P.2d 1242 (1976). The law is intended to punish a person who drives a motor vehicle when their ability to drive is impaired by alcohol or when they consume an excessive amount of alcohol and then drive a vehicle. *Id.* A DUI involving alcohol creates no procedural due process issue because a person is on notice that they should not operate a motor vehicle after consuming excessive amounts of alcohol or if their ability to drive is impaired by alcohol.

³ Alcohol Toxicology for Prosecutors: Targeting Hardcore Impaired Drivers. American Prosecutors Research Institute, (July 2003).
http://www.ndaa.org/pdf/toxicology_final.pdf, Appendix 5.

⁴ *Id.*

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