73929.8

73929-8

#### No. 73929-8-I

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE, STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF KENT Respondent

V.

COREY COBB,

Appellant

# STATE OF SPACALS DIV.

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, CITY OF KENT

JULIE M. STORMES WSBA #34882 City of Kent Attorney for Respondent 220 Fourth Avenue South Kent, WA 98032 jstormes@kentwa.gov (253) 856-5770

ARTHUR FITZPATRICK WSBA #25068 CITY OF KENT Attorney for Respondent 220 Fourth Avenue South Kent, WA 98032 pfitzpatrick@kentwa.gov 253-856-5781

####

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

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

Constitutional issues are questions of law that the appellate court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Bao Dinh Dang*, 178 Wn.2d 868, 874, 312 P.3d 30 (2013).

This case presents the first statewide challenge to I-502's 5ng/mL THC per se level. The appellant argues RCW

46.61.502(1)(b) is unconstitutional because it: (1) is an improper exercise of police powers; (2) is void for vagueness; and (3) violates the single subject rule for ballot measures. He cannot meet his burden of proving RCW 46.61.502(1)(b) is unconstitutional.

#### A. RCW 46.61.502(1)(b) is presumed constitutional.

Statutes are presumed constitutional, and the challenger of a statute must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute is unconstitutional. *Sator v. State Dep't of Revenue*, 89. Wn.2d 338, 346, 572 P.2d 1094 (2010). The beyond a reasonable doubt standard when used in this context describes not an evidentiary burden, but rather a requirement that the challenger convince the court that there is no reasonable doubt that the statute violates the constitution. *Island County v. State*, 135 Wn.2d 141, 147, 955 P.2d 377 (1998). This standard and burden of proof applies whether a statute is enacted by the Legislature, or by the people through the initiative process. *Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State*, 142 Wn.2d 183, 205, 11 P.3d 762 (2000).

# B. Voters acted well within the police powers in establishing the 5 ng/mL per se level set forth in RCW 46.61.502(1)(b).

The appellant argues RCW 46.61.502(1)(b) exceeds the police powers of the state because the science upon which the 5ng/mL

11

standard is based is flawed.

A party asserting a statute exceeds the state's police power must overcome the presumption that the statute: (1) tends to correct some evil or promote an interest of the state; and (2) bears a reasonable and substantial relationship to accomplishing its purpose. *State v. Robbins*, 138 Wn.2d 486, 492, 980 P.2d 725 (1999). When considering whether a challenged statute bears a reasonable and substantial relationship to accomplishing its purpose, the courts:

are mindful that the legislature possesses broad discretion in determining what are the appropriate measures to serve and protect the public interest . . . [A]II that is constitutionally required of the legislature is that a state of facts can reasonably be conceived to exist which would justify the legislation. If the courts can reasonably conceive of such a state of facts, they must presume that such facts actually did exist and that the statute being tested was passed with reference to them.

Id. at 493. (internal citations omitted).

## 1. RCW 46.61.502 (1)(b) tends to correct some evil or promote an interest of the state.

It is a privilege granted by the state to operate a motor vehicle upon the highways of this state. *Mendoza v. Rivera-Chavez*, 140 Wn.2d 659, 665, 999 P.2d 29 (2000). This privilege is always subject to such reasonable regulation and control as the

proper authorities see fit to impose under the police power in the interest of public safety and welfare. *Spokane v. Port*, 43 Wash. App. 273, 275-276, 716 P.2d 945 (1986). The Supreme Court has determined the legislature may legitimately adopt statutes that penalize drivers for using the public highways and roads when they are impaired by the consumption of alcohol. *State v. Crediford*, 130 Wn.2d 747, 756, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996).

The *Crediford* court found the alcohol per se statute "served the laudable goal of discouraging drinking and driving.<sup>15</sup> There is no legitimate basis to treat drivers impaired by marijuana any differently, and it does not appear that the appellant presents any challenge in this regard.<sup>16</sup>

# 2. RCW 46.61.502 (1)(b) bears a reasonable and substantial relationship to discouraging the consumption of marijuana and driving.

The appellant asserts RCW 46.61.502 (1)(b) exceeds the police powers "because in casting so wide a net in its attempt to criminalize driving while under the influence of THC, it criminalizes behavior not generally deemed criminal."<sup>17 18</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> *Id.* at 752.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Brief of Appellant at 51-52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> ld. at 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> To the extent the appellant argues the statute is overbroad and captures otherwise lawful conduct, he has no standing to do so. Overbreadth arguments

His argument fails for two reasons. First, the only question is whether the 5ng/mL per se level bears a reasonable and substantial relationship to the goal of safer public roadways. This question bears no relationship to the question of whether a person is suffering the effects of marijuana at a THC level of 5ng/ml. Second, even if it is necessary a relationship exists between 5ng/mL and a person's ability to drive, there is a more than sufficient basis supporting the 5ng/mL per se THC level. Each of these issues will be addressed in turn.

## a. The 5ng/mL per se blood THC level is lawful because it discourages the consumption of marijuana and driving.

A law that makes it criminal for a person to drive with <u>any</u> amount of marijuana in his system meets the goal of protecting the public from the dangers of drugged drivers. RCW 46.61.502(1)(b), which establishes a person who operates a motor vehicle with 5ng/mL or higher of THC in the blood, is constitutional regardless of whether a person may or may not show signs of intoxication.

Our state supreme court has twice determined the per se limit for alcohol found in RCW 46.61.502(1)(a) satisfies the constitution as a proper exercise of police powers: *Crediford*, 130 Wn.2d at 756;

are confined to First Amendment challenges. <u>See</u> *e.g.* Seattle v. Montana, 129 Wn.2d 583, 598, 919 P.2d 1218 (1996).

*Brayman*, 110 Wn.2d at 195. While the lawfulness of a per se level for marijuana is an issue of first impression for this court, courts in numerous other states have uniformly upheld DUI statutes based on *a* per se level of THC and other drugs, <u>even in cases in which</u> the statute provides for zero tolerance of THC in the blood.

In *Wisconsin v. Smet*, 709 N.W.2d 474, 288 Wis. 2d 525 (2005), Defendant Smet was arrested and charged with violating Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(am) entitled: "Operating under influence of intoxicant or other drug" that provides: "No person may drive or operate a motor vehicle while . . . the person has a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his or her blood."<sup>19</sup> Delta-9 THC was listed as a "restricted controlled substance." Upon his arrest, a blood test revealed this defendant had 3.2 ng/mL of THC in his blood. He challenged the statute exceeded the legislature's police powers and violated his right to due process, fundamental fairness, and equal protection.

His appeal was denied. The court found protecting people on the roadways was a proper exercise of police power, and the statute was reasonably and rationally related to this purpose.<sup>20</sup> The court determined the statute would only violate equal protection if it

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id.* at 477. All non-Washington state-level cases are attached under App. 17.
 <sup>20</sup> *Id.* at 479.

was arbitrary and bore no rational relationship to a legitimate government interest.<sup>21</sup> It went on to find because the statute did not require impairment, its application was not arbitrary.<sup>22</sup> The court also noted:

We observe that ten other states--Arizona, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Michigan, Minnesota, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island and Utah--also have "*per se*" drug laws prohibiting a person from driving with any amount of certain illegal controlled substances in his or her system, regardless of impairment. Courts from those states that have addressed the constitutionality of their similar statutory provisions likewise have determined that the prohibition against driving with a controlled substance in one's system was rationally related to the governmental goal of protecting other drivers and is a valid exercise of the state's police power.<sup>23</sup>

Id. (internal citations omitted).

The court in *Williams v. Nevada*, 50 P.3d 1116, 118 Nev. 536 (2002) reached a similar conclusion. Defendant Williams drove her van off the road, into the median, then struck and killed six teenagers. Her blood was found to have the active ingredient of marijuana in excess of 2 ng/mL. She was charged and convicted of violating NRS 484.379(3) which provides: "[I]t is unlawful for any person to drive or be in actual physical control of a vehicle on a highway . . . with an amount of prohibited substance in his blood that is equal or greater than two nanograms per milliliter of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> *Id*. at 482.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Id. at 482.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> *Id.* at 482.

marijuana metabolite."24 The defendant challenged the statute. arguing it was vague because she would not know when she reached the proscribed limit of 2 ng/mL.<sup>25</sup> The court rejected the argument determining a person of average intelligence could reason ingestion of marijuana could result in exceeding the proscribed level.<sup>26</sup>

In Love v. State, 517 S.E.2d 53, 271 Ga.398 (1999), Defendant Love was stopped for speeding in Georgia. Based on the odor of marijuana emanating from his car, he was arrested, and blood and urine samples were taken. Marijuana metabolites were found in both. He was charged with and convicted of O.C.G.A. § 40-6-391(a)(6) that reads: "A person shall not drive or be in actual physical control of any motor vehicle while . . . there is any amount of marijuana or a controlled substance . . . present in the person's blood or urine, or both, including the metabolites and derivatives of each or both . . . . "<sup>27</sup> He argued this statute violated the Equal Protection Clause of both the U.S. and Georgia Constitutions because it unfairly singled out for punishment unimpaired drivers with low levels of marijuana metabolites in their body fluids, despite

- <sup>24</sup> Id. at 1119.
   <sup>25</sup> Id. at 1123.
   <sup>26</sup> Id. at 1123.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Id. at 55.

the fact these drivers posed no threat to traffic safety, which was the purpose of the DUI statute.<sup>28</sup>

The court disagreed. The court noted impaired driving ability was not an element of Georgia's law prohibiting driving with unlawful drugs in one's body fluids.<sup>29</sup> It ruled a statute which makes it unlawful to drive while marijuana residue is circulating in the driver's body fluids bears a rational relationship to a legitimate state purpose - protection of the public.<sup>30</sup> The court noted with the enactment of a per se prohibition against driving after using marijuana, the state's general assembly acted to shield the public from the potential dangers presented by persons who drive while experiencing the effects of marijuana.<sup>31</sup> It recognized the assembly determined "there is no level of illicit drug use which can be acceptably combined with driving a vehicle; the established potential for lethal consequences is too great."<sup>32</sup> The court stated, "the legislature has made it easier for persons to understand and accept that they are legally unable to drive if they consume virtually any amount of [marijuana]...." (internal quotes omitted).<sup>33 34</sup>

<sup>28</sup> *Id.* at 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> *Id.* at 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id.* at 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> *Id.* at 56-57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> *Id*. at 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> *Id.* at 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> The appeal in *Love v. State*, <u>supra</u>, was granted on the grounds that it was arbitrary for the statute, which was passed to protect public safety, to treat the legal use of marijuana (not punished unless the driver was impaired) different

People v. Fate, 636 N.E.2d 549, 159 III.2d 267 (1994) also supports the proposition that whether a person may or may not be affected by marijuana is not necessary to a determination the statute is a proper exercise of police powers. In Illinois, Defendant Fate was charged with driving a motor vehicle with any amount of a drug, substance or compound in his urine resulting from the unlawful use or consumption of cannabis, in violation of III. Rev. Stat. 11-501(a)(5).<sup>35</sup> He challenged the statute arguing it violated due process since it was not tied to driving impairment. The court noted:

There is no dispute that the statute is intended to keep drugimpaired drivers off of the road. At the lowest levels of drug ingestion, no one is impaired. At the highest levels, all are impaired. In the vast middle range, however, the tolerance for drugs varies from person to person and from drug to drug. In this range, depending on the drug and depending on the person, some will be impaired and some will not be impaired at all. The same is also true for alcohol, itself a drug.<sup>36</sup>

The court continued in its ruling:

The statute in question creates an absolute bar against driving a motor vehicle following the illegal ingestion of any cannabis or controlled substance. This is without regard to physical impairment. Given the vast number of contraband drugs, the difficulties in measuring the concentration of these

from illegal use of marijuana (punished regardless of whether the driver was impaired), because the effects of the marijuana were the same.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> *Id.* at 549. <sup>36</sup> *Id.* at 550.

drugs with precision from blood and urine samples and, finally, the variation in impairment from drug to drug and from person to person, we believe that the statute constitutes a reasonable exercise of the police power of the State in the interest of safe streets and highways.<sup>37</sup>

In *State v. Phillips*, 873 P.2d 706, 178 Ariz. 368 (1994), the Arizona court reached the same conclusion. Defendant Phillips was involved in a car accident, where the responding officer noted the smell of alcohol. The defendant there exhibited signs of alcohol use, but the breathalyzer returned a reading of .06/.058. A test revealed the presence of methamphetamine and marijuana metabolite in Defendant Phillips' blood. She was charged with violating section A.R.S. §28-692(A)(3), which prohibits driving or being in actual physical control of a vehicle while having a nonprescription drug or its metabolite in one's body.<sup>38</sup> She challenged the statute on a number of grounds, including vagueness, overbreadth, due process, and equal protection.

The appeal was denied. The court determined: "[T]he legislature was reasonable in determining that there is no level of illicit drug use which can be acceptably combined with driving a vehicle; the established potential for lethal consequences is too great."<sup>39</sup> The court concluded:

<sup>37</sup> *Id.* at 551.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id.* at 707.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> *Id.* at 710.

The state has a compelling legitimate interest in protecting the public from drivers whose ability may be impaired by the consumption of controlled substances and the legislature reasonably could have concluded that the per se prohibition embodied in [the statute] provided an effective deterrent to such activity. And, although [the statute] already makes it unlawful to drive while impaired by illegal drugs, the legislature could have rationally determined that the absence of a reliable indicator of impairment necessitated a flat ban on driving with any proscribed drugs in one's system.<sup>40</sup>

These cases demonstrate a relationship between a particular amount of marijuana metabolites in the blood and the impact it may have on a person's ability to operate a vehicle safely is not material to the question of whether a per se level for marijuana metabolites in a driver's blood is reasonably and substantially related to the goal of protecting the public. In Washington, as in many other states around the nation, even a law prohibiting any marijuana metabolites in a driver's blood would satisfy the constitution. This being so, surely a statute permitting a person to drive with a blood THC level below 5ng/mL, but making it criminal to drive with blood THC that is at or exceeds this level, serves the purpose of protecting the public health, safety, and welfare.

The appellant's arguments that scientific data regarding the affect a particular level of THC may have in a driver's blood is inconclusive, actually supports a per se level of zero tolerance. If,  $\frac{1}{40}$  Id. at 710.

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